Town of North Kingstown
Board of Appeals

Board of Appeals Meeting
Thursday, June 4, 2020
Municipal Offices Courtroom
100 Fairway Drive
North Kingstown, RI 02852
7:00 Pm

Agenda

Please Note:
To protect the health and well-being of our citizens during the COVID-19 emergency, and
in accordance with the Governor’s Executive Orders, public attendance will not be
permitted. The June 4, 2020 Board of Appeal meeting can be watched live, online,
through the following link:
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89898257637?pwd=Z1Z5a3ZRdlFNM0VBK2U4YjU5byt3dz09
Meeting ID: 898 9825 7637 Password: 451391
Or you may join by phone: US: +1 301 715 8592 or +1 312 626 6799 or +1 929 436 2866 or
+1 253 215 8782 or +1 346 248 7799 or +1 669 900 6833 Meeting ID: 898 9825 7637
Password: 451391
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For members of the public, once you enter the call, you will be placed on mute until a
request for comments is made. A moderator will manage the order of the calls and will
unmute the calls one-by-one.
You may also email comments to nlafontaine@northkingstown.org. Please include your
name, address, and statement. Only comments including all required information will be
read into the record.
The meeting will also be streamed to the Recordings of Town Meetings page:
https://www.northkingstown.org/496/Recordings-of-Town-Meetings
Please note: the streaming is to view the meeting only and has no option for public
comment.

1

Call to Order

2

Pursuant to RIGL 42-46-6(c), notice of this meeting has been posted on the Secretary
of State's website

3

New Business
3.a

4

Appeal by Rickey Thompson of the Decision of the Planning Commission dated
April 9, 2020 relative to the “approval of a preliminary plan for a major land
development project, a proposed mixed use compact village development
including 212 bedrooms in a mix of unit styles and 26,000 square feet of
commercial space. A new clubhouse for the golf course (which will remain) and
a civic building for the residential development also [sic] proposed.” The
preliminary plan decision relates to The Preserve at Rolling Greens also known
as Assessor’s Plat 110 Lots 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 9, 10, 11 and Assessor’s Plat 126 Lot
5 located on Ten Rod Road at the intersection of Routes 2 and 102 as provided
for in Article 12 of the North Kingstown Subdivision and Land Development
Regulations.
Staff Report to Board of Appeals for June 04 2020 meeting PDF.pdf
Appeal of Ricky Thompson prepared by Kelley Morris Salvatore.pdf
M.L. Hawk - Response to ZB Appeal-pdf.pdf
RG February 18, 2020 transcript.pdf
RG March 10, 2020 transcript.pdf
RG April 9 2020.pdf
pc_agenda_040920_amended.pdf

Adjournment
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THE TOWN OF NORTH KINGSTOWN WILL PROVIDE INTERPRETERS FOR THE DEAF AND HARD
OF HEARING AT ANY MEETING PROVIDED A REQUEST IS RECEIVED THREE (3) DAYS PRIOR TO
SAID MEETING BY CALLING 294-3331, EXT. 120.
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Board of Appeals Agenda Item Report
Submitted by: Nicole LaFontaine
Submitting Department: Planning and Development/Zoning
Meeting Date: June 4, 2020

Agenda Action:
Appeal by Rickey Thompson of the Decision of the Planning Commission dated April 9, 2020 relative to the “approval
of a preliminary plan for a major land development project, a proposed mixed use compact village development
including 212 bedrooms in a mix of unit styles and 26,000 square feet of commercial space. A new clubhouse for the
golf course (which will remain) and a civic building for the residential development also [sic] proposed.” The preliminary
plan decision relates to The Preserve at Rolling Greens also known as Assessor’s Plat 110 Lots 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 9, 10,
11 and Assessor’s Plat 126 Lot 5 located on Ten Rod Road at the intersection of Routes 2 and 102 as provided for in
Article 12 of the North Kingstown Subdivision and Land Development Regulations.
Motion:

ATTACHMENTS
 Staff Report to Board of Appeals for June 04 2020 meeting PDF.pdf
 Appeal of Ricky Thompson prepared by Kelley Morris Salvatore.pdf
 M.L. Hawk - Response to ZB Appeal-pdf.pdf
 RG February 18, 2020 transcript.pdf
 RG March 10, 2020 transcript.pdf
 RG April 9 2020.pdf
 pc_agenda_040920_amended.pdf
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Town of North Kingstown, Rhode Island
100 Fairway Drive
North Kingstown, RI 02852-5762
Phone: (401) 294-3331
Fax: (401) 885-7373
www.northkingstown.org
STAFF REPORT

To:
Board of Appeals
From:
Planning Department
Date:
May 29, 2020
Meeting Date: June 04, 2020
Applicant/Owner
Engineer/Surveyor
Attorney
Requested Action
Location
Existing Zoning
Comprehensive Plan
Designation

Rickey Thompson, 194 Plain Road, North Kingstown, RI 02852
N/A
Kelley Morris Salvatore (#6025), Kelley Morris law, LLC, 2130 Mendon Road
Unit 3-185, Cumberland RI 02864
Appeal of Preliminary Plan Decision dated April 9th, 2020 for The Preserve at
Rolling Greens
AP 110, Lots 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 9, 10, 11 and AP 126 Lot 5
Compact Village District (CVD)
Rural Gateway Land Use Designation

Board of Appeals
The Zoning Board of Review is the Board of Appeals to hear appeals of decisions of the
planning commission or the administrative officer on matters of review and approval of land
development and subdivision projects.(As per the Subdivision and Land Development
Regulations-Article 11: Administration and Regulations and Amendments- Section 11.3: The
planning commission board of appeals) The preliminary approval and appeal, procedural
requirements and the standards for review for the decision are set out within this staff
report.
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Preliminary Plan Approval
The planning commission (PC) reviewed this preliminary application at its meetings on February
18, March 10, March 24, and April 09, 2020. This preliminary application was for a proposed
mixed-use compact village development on Assessor’s Plat 110 Lots 2-7 and 9-11 and Assessor’s
Plat 126 Lot 5. The properties are located in the Compact Village Development (CVD) zoning
district and the Groundwater Two (GW2) overlay zone. The proposed project includes 212
bedrooms in a mix of unit styles and 26,000 square feet of commercial space. A new clubhouse
for the golf course (which will remain) and a civic building for the residential development are
also proposed.
The decision from the April 09 meeting is attached for your reference. The decision, 13 pages in total
included 16 findings of fact and 22 conditions was approved (6-0) by the planning commission and was
recorded on April 13, 2020.

Appeal Summary
The appeal of Mr. Ricky Thompson as an aggrieved party to the planning commission decision
was filed on May 01, 2020. The reasons for the appeal are set out within the appeal submission
made by Kelley Morris Salvatore of Kelley Morris Law, LLC, as enclosed. This includes an
application, a 9-page written statement outlining the grounds of the appeal, exhibit A (recorded
preliminary decision), exhibit B (ordinance number 17-16), exhibit C, (Consent Judgement). The
grounds of the appeal are that: 1) the preliminary plan is not in compliance with the standards
and provisions of the North Kingstown Zoning Ordinance 2)The Planning Board ignored the
credible evidence regarding negative environmental impacts 3)The Town Council did not have
the authority to approve the proposed development plan 4) The proposed golf clubhouse is a
“nonresidential” use and must be included in the nonresidential square footage 5) The
proposed golf course is not in conformance with Section 21-95 (16) of the North Kingstown
Zoning ordinance and 8) The proposed development is not in conformance with Section 21-95
(8) of the Zoning Ordinance. The appeal summarizes that the Board of Appeals should overturn
the PC decision and remand the matter to the Planning Commission for further proceedings
consistent with the decision.
Applicants’ Objection to the Appeal
A response to this appeal was submitted by Mark W. Freel of Locke Lord LLP on behalf of the
applicants. This 14 page submission outlines the applicants’ objection to the appeal of the
preliminary plan approval on the basis that it “was not the result of any procedural error, or
other clear error and because it is amply supported by evidence in voluminous record before
the Planning Commission.” This submission outlines the background to the appeal in Section A,
dating back to February 27, 2012 when the Town amended the Zoning Ordinance to create the
Compact Village District (CVD) right through to the April 13th, 2020 decision recording. Section B
refutes the sections arguments on appeal under the respective headings: 1) Zoning Ordinance
2) Environmental Impact 3) The Town Council did not act as a Planning Board 4) The Golf
6
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Clubhouse 5) The Golf Course/Open Space 6) The Proposed Development is Sufficiently
Interconnected. The appeal response in its Conclusion states that the decision of the Planning
Commission should be affirmed in all respects.
Procedural Regulations
The procedural regulations for appeals to the board of appeals are set out in Section 12.1 of the
Land Development and Subdivision Regulations.
•

12.1.1. Any party aggrieved by a decision of the planning commission or the
administrative officer shall have the right to appeal that decision, to the extent
provided in G.L. § 45-23-66, to the board of appeals. Appeals from a decision granting
or denying approval of a final plan shall be limited to elements of such approval or
disapproval not contained in the decision reached by the planning commission at the
preliminary review stage, providing that a public hearing was held at that stage
pursuant to G.L. § 45-23-42.

Appeals shall be governed by the following procedure:
a. The appeal must be taken within 20 days of the day the decision is recorded and
posted in the office of town clerk. (The appeal was taken on May 01,2020 the
recorded decision was April 13, 2020.)
b. The appeal shall be in writing, on a form provided by the department of planning
and development, and shall state clearly and unambiguously the factual and legal
issue(s) or decision that is being appealed, the reason for the appeal, and the relief
sought. (As enclosed).
c. The appeal shall either be sent by certified mail, with a return receipt requested, or
shall be hand delivered to the clerk of the board of appeals. Appeal was hand
delivered.
d. Upon receipt of an appeal, the board of appeals shall require the planning
commission or administrative officer to transmit forthwith to the board of appeals all
papers, documents and plans, or a certified copy thereof, constituting the record of
the action which is being appealed.
•

12.1.2. An appeal shall stay all proceedings in furtherance of the action being
appealed.

The public hearings process is set out in Section 12. 2 and states that appeals of the decision of
the administrative officer and the planning commission shall be given a public hearing set
forth as follows:
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•
•

•

•
•

•

12.2.1. The board of appeals shall hold a public hearing on each appeal within 45 days
of receipt of the appeal by the clerk of the board of appeals. Public hearing on June 04,
2020 meets this requirement.
12.2.2. The public hearing shall be conducted at a meeting called and advertised
especially for that purpose and shall be conducted separately from any zoning board
of review meeting that may be advertised for that same date and place. The public
hearing may be held on the same date and at the same place as a meeting of the
zoning board of review. Special meeting held for this.
12.2.3. Notice of the public hearing shall be published in a newspaper of general
circulation within the town at least 14 days prior to the date of the public hearing.
Notice shall be sent by first class mail to the parties to the appeal and to those persons
required to be notified by article 5.0 of these regulations. The cost of any notice
required for the public hearing shall be borne by the appellant.
12.2.4. At the public hearing, any party may appear in person, or may be represented
by an agent or attorney.
12.2.5. The board of appeals shall maintain a complete record of all its proceedings,
including minutes of meetings and records of votes taken, which shall be separate
from the minutes and records of the zoning board of review.
12.2.6. The board of appeals shall render a decision within ten days of the close of the
public hearing. The decision shall be in writing and shall include reasons for the
decision.

Board of Appeals Standards for Review
The Board of Appeals must review the appeal in context with Section 12.3 of the Subdivision and
Land Development Regulations. Section 12.3.1 states that the decision by the Board of Appeals
shall render a decision in the following manner:
a. The board of appeals shall not substitute its own judgment for that of the planning
commission or the administrative officer but shall consider the issue upon the
findings and record of the planning commission or administrative officer. The board
of appeals shall not reverse a decision of the planning commission or administrative
officer except on a finding of prejudicial procedural error, clear error, or lack of
support by the weight of the evidence in the record.
b. The concurring vote of three of the five members of the board of appeals sitting at
a hearing shall be necessary to reverse any decision of the planning commission or
administrative officer.
c. In the instance where the board of appeals overturns a decision of the planning
commission or administrative officer, the proposed project application shall be
remanded to the planning commission or administrative officer, at the stage of
processing from which the appeal was taken, for further proceedings before the
planning commission or administrative officer and/or for the final disposition, which
shall be consistent with the board of appeal's decision.
8
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Following the rendering of a decision by the Board of Appeals a decision will be written up in ten
days. An aggrieved party may appeal a decision of the board of appeals to the county superior
court by filing a complaint setting forth the reasons of appeal within 20 days after the decision
has been recorded and posted in the town clerk's office.
ATTACHMENTS
1. Planning Commission Decision dated April 09, 2020 and recorded date April 13, 2020.
2. Planning Staff Report for Preliminary Application
3. Transcripts from Meetings (February 18, March 10, March 24, and April 09, 2020).
4. Appeal of Ricky Thompson prepared by Kelly Morris Salvatore of Kelley Morris Law, LLC
5. Response to Appeal by Mark W. Freel of Locke Lord LLP on behalf of the applicants, Mark L.
Hawkins, M.L Hawk Realty LLC, Joshua L. Hawkins and JAMM GOLF LLC.

AP 110-01 in blue with other lots that are part of this application adjacent to this area
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NORTH KINGSTOWN
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS
IN RE:

PRELIMINARY PLAN
THE PRESERVE AT ROLLING GREENS
AP 110, Lots 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 9, 10, 11
and AP 126, Lot 5 (the “Property”)

APPLICANTS’ OBJECTION TO APPEAL OF PRELIMINARY PLAN APPROVAL

Applicants Mark L. Hawkins, M.L. Hawk Realty LLC, Joshua L. Hawkins and JAMM
Golf LLC (collectively, the “Applicants”) hereby object as follows to the above-referenced
Appeal (“Appeal”) by Appellant Rickey Thompson (“Appellant”) from the grant of Preliminary
Plan approval by the North Kingstown Planning Commission on April 9, 2020, as recorded in
the Land Evidence Records for the Town of North Kingstown on April 13, 2020.
In sum, the Preliminary Plan approval, as embodied in the Planning Commission’s
detailed Decision (the “Decision”), which is incorporated in the Appeal as Exhibit A, should be
upheld and affirmed because it was not the result of any procedural error, or other clear error,
and because it is amply supported by evidence in a voluminous record before the Planning
Commission. See Rhode Island General Laws § 45-23-70(a). The Planning Commission held a
lengthy public hearing over two nights, on February 18, 2020, and March 10, 2020, and
considered a substantial body of evidence that was certified as complete by Planning Department
staff as of January 15, 2020. That substantial record was supplemented during the public hearing
process by the Applicants and by the Appellant. In the end, after managing a fair process in
which both supporters and objectors were allowed to speak, and after considering the body of
evidence before it (including its own previous grant of Master Plan approval), the Planning
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Commission voted unanimously, 6-0, to approve the Preliminary Plan. That Decision is sound
as a matter of law and procedure, and is fully supported by evidence in the record.
After reviewing certain relevant history and background associated with this longstanding project, the Applicants will respond to the individual arguments made by the Appellant
in the same order that they were made in the Appeal.

A.

BACKGROUND
The subject parcels included in the Preliminary Plan comprise one hundred twenty-eight

(128) acres, including an existing golf course and clubhouse, and four (4) existing residential
dwelling units, and are part of a proposed multi-use development to be known as The Preserve at
Rolling Greens (“Rolling Greens” or the “Project”). That Project has been pending before
various public boards and agencies in North Kingstown since at least 2012.
On February 27, 2012, the Town amended its Zoning Ordinance to create a Compact
Village District (“CVD”) zone designed to include a combination of residential and commercial
space in a multi-use development. On December 18, 2012, the Planning Commission approved a
Master Plan application by the Applicants for the development of Rolling Greens, with a target
range of commercial space between 24,000 square feet and 40,000 square feet (not including the
existing golf clubhouse) and total residential bedrooms in the range of one hundred ninety-seven
(197) bedrooms, to be divided up among approximately ninety-six (96) residential dwelling
units. On June 23, 2014, the Town Council approved the inclusion of the Rolling Greens
Property within the CVD zone, amending the zoning map accordingly, and implicitly approved
the aforementioned ratio of nonresidential to residential space, which was consistent with the
Ordinance in effect at the time, when it did not impose any other specific ratio.
49
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One of the next steps at the time would have been Preliminary Plan approval. But, on
August 28, 2017, the Town Council amended certain relevant criteria in the CVD zone. That
action came after the Applicants already enjoyed certain vested rights in the Project and had
acted in reliance on the pre-existing CVD criteria. The Applicants were in the process of seeking
Preliminary Plan approval at that time, and had received a Certificate of Completeness, but that
certificate was withdrawn. As a result of the foregoing events, the Applicants filed a lawsuit in
U.S. District Court for the District of Rhode Island in 2017, alleging that the Town had engaged
in actions in violation of their vested property and development rights.
Following a mediation with then-Chief Judge William Smith in the U.S. District Court in
2018, the parties engaged in further settlement discussions in early 2019. The Town was
represented in those discussions by the Town Manager, the President of the Town Council, the
Town Solicitor, and two outside private counsel representing the Town in the lawsuit. The
parties reached agreement on the terms of a Consent Judgment, which is attached as Exhibit C to
the Appeal. The Consent Judgment incorporated certain agreed -upon development criteria, and
specifically noted that the Applicants would not be subject to the amended CVD criteria enacted
by the Town Council in 2017, after approvals had already been granted to the Applicants in
accordance with certain pre-existing terms of the Ordinance. The Consent Judgment was
preliminarily approved by the U.S. District Court on March 15, 2019, and constituted an
enforceable agreement between the Town and the Applicants, but it remained subject to two (2)
express conditions before it would become final and could be entered by the Court.
Those two conditions were (1) approval of the settlement by the North Kingstown Town
Council, and (2) approval of the Preliminary Plan by the North Kingstown Planning
Commission. The Consent Judgment was clear that consideration of the Preliminary Plan by the
50
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Planning Commission was to include consideration of criteria typically associated with such a
process, but was not to be otherwise inconsistent with Applicants’ pre-existing Master Plan
approval or with the agreed-upon terms of the Consent Judgment. (Appeal Exh. C, at ¶¶ 1-2.)
The Town Council approved the settlement embodied in the Consent Judgment at a duly noticed
hearing held on February 28, 2019. Members of the public were present and were permitted to
speak in favor or, or in opposition to, the proposed settlement. Appellant was present and spoke
in opposition. The Council approved the Consent Judgment. That left the Planning
Commission’s consideration of the Preliminary Plan, which commenced on February 18, 2020. 1
Following two public hearings and a third meeting at which a draft decision was
discussed in detail, the Planning Commission voted unanimously, 6-0, to approve the
Preliminary Plan. That led to a 13-page, single spaced Decision with sixteen (16) detailed
Findings of Fact and twenty-three (23) itemized Conditions. The Decision was recorded in the
Land Evidence Records on April 13, 2020. 2

B.

ARGUMENTS ON APPEAL
Applicants hereby respond as follows to the issues raised on Appeal:
1.

Zoning Ordinance

Appellant argues that Preliminary Plan approval is inconsistent with the requirements of
the North Kingstown Zoning Ordinance. However, that argument is premised on a contention
that the Applicants were or should have been subject to the amended CVD criteria passed by the

1

The Preliminary Plan application was also reviewed by the Technical Review Committee on February 12,
2020. Input from that body, particularly on traffic issues, was agreed to and is reflected in the Planning
Commission’s final decision.
2

Promptly after the Preliminary Plan was recorded in the land evidence records, the Consent Judgment was
entered by the Court, concluding the litigation. All parties – the Town and the Applicants – remain bound by it.
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Town Council on August 28, 2017. As noted above, the Consent Judgment agreed to by the
parties – including numerous representatives of the Town – specifically excluded Applicants
from any requirement to comply with those 2017 CVD amendments. (See Appeal, Exhibit C, ¶¶
1-2.) That is because prior to the 2017 CVD amendments, Applicants already enjoyed certain
pre-existing and vested development rights associated with the Town’s previous approvals,
including Master Plan approval. That issue was central to the Federal court litigation that was
settled by the Consent Judgment.
Appellant mischaracterizes this issue in two critical respects. First, he argues that the
Planning Commission does not have power to change the Zoning Ordinance by removing the
2017 amendments. But, the Planning Commission did no such thing when it approved the
Applicants’ Preliminary Plan. Rather, it simply recognized that, consistent with the settlement
embodied in the Consent Judgment, the 2017 amendments could not be applied retroactively to
Applicants in light of the progress of their application to that date under prior requirements.
Criteria associated with the 2017 CVD amendments would still apply to any other applicants
who did not hold vested rights such as those enjoyed by Applicants as of August 2017. So, the
Planning Commission did not “change” the Ordinance. Second, consistent with the foregoing,
Applicants did not “appeal” the 2017 CVD amendments. The Federal court would have no
jurisdiction to hear any such “appeal.” Rather, Applicants argued that those amended CVD
criteria enacted in 2017 should not be applied to them in light of prior vested rights and that the
attempt to do so was in violation of their rights, when combined with the withdrawal of their
Certificate of Completeness and other events.3

3

The fact that Appellant sought the right to intervene in that litigation and was denied by the Federal court is
of no relevance here. That was a determination made by the Court as a matter of law.

5
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Finally on this point, Appellant argues that the Town “shut out members of the public”
when approving a settlement on these terms, including the recognition of vested rights that
predated the 2017 CVD amendments. But the entire settlement was approved by the Town
Council at a public meeting following a public hearing at which members of the public were
invited to comment. The public was never “shut out.”4 Rather, a majority of the Town Council
was presumably convinced – even after listening to opposition from opponents such as Appellant
-- that settlement of the litigation and recognition of the Applicants’ vested rights was preferable
to the significant costs and risks of further litigation. In so doing, the Town Council acted within
its authority in connection with the settlement of land use litigation. See Narragansett Imp. Co. v
Marcantonio, No. PC-2008-6504, 2012 WL 1141481 (R.I. Super. Ct. Mar. 30, 2012) (addressing
the right of abutters to intervene on other procedural grounds but noting the right of a
municipality to settle land use litigation provided it does not do so in violation of applicable
law); see also Pike Indus., Inc. v. City of Westbrook, 45 A.3d 707, 715 (Me. 2012) (“[A]
municipal government may settle litigation and compromise land use related claims through a
consent decree because the authority for them falls naturally within the authority to sue and be
sued.”). Here, as noted above, the Town Council did not violate the 2017 amendments to the
CVD ordinance, it simply concluded that Applicants were exempt from those changes because of
pre-existing vested rights. Hence, the settlement was a defensible and rational decision within
the Town’s authority in light of the claims made in the underlying case.

Appellant’s principal grievance at the Town Council meeting appeared to be that members of the public
were not involved in the settlement negotiations, or were not permitted access to an executive session at which
litigation issues were discussed. But members of the public would not typically be involved in settlement
negotiations and have no right to be. Rather, when any such settlement needs to be appro ved, a public hearing is
held and a public vote occurs. Both happened in this instance, and Appellant was given an opportunity to be heard.
4
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2.

Environmental Impact

Next, Appellant argues that the Planning Commission “disregarded . . . uncontested
expert testimony” proffered by the Applicant, and ignored the potential for negative
environmental impacts, when it did not accept the argument that approval of the Preliminary
Plan would trigger long-term concerns about water resources and water supply issues in the
municipality. This argument fails on numerous grounds. It fails because it overlooks the
Town’s own prior approval of water supply for this Project. It also fails because it disregards the
careful and appropriate way that the Planning Commission addressed this issue in its Decision.
And, it fails because the Appellant misconstrues the section of the Subdivision Regulations that
addresses the potential for “significant environmental impacts.”
On July 18, 2016, the North Kingstown Town Council approved the Applicants’ right to
connect to an existing water main on Ten Rod Road. That decision was based on an existing
modeling study and reflected a belief at the time that water supply for the Project was adequate.
The Applicants proceeded in reliance on that authorization. On June 11, 2019, as part of the
preparation for the Planning Commission’s consideration of the Preliminary Plan, and in
recognition of some modest increase in bedroom numbers as part of the Consent Judgment, the
Town received an updated assessment of the water supply issues from Pare Corporation. Pare
Corporation concluded that the change in Project plans (which also included a reduction in
commercial space) would result in a “relatively insignificant” change in projected water usage
(less than 0.1%). Hence, Pare concluded that “the [water] system has the capacity” to supply the
Project as proposed. Both of the foregoing documents were in the record before the Planning
Commission and were specifically noted in its Decision.
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, Appellant presented testimony and a report from Robert
Ferrari, P.E. (“Ferrari”) arguing that the Town’s long-term water resources were insufficient to
support the Project. The Planning Commission did not “disregard” Ferrari’s opinion. In fact, the
Commission specifically considered it and found that his conclusions “related to town-wide
water supply and was not specific to the Rolling Greens project, which has already been accepted
and approved by the Town Council for public water.” (Planning Decision, Finding No. 10(i).)
The Commission further concluded that it would not be appropriate to tie such long-term issues
to one specific project (with prior approval), but that such issues would have to be addressed by
the Town on a larger, more long-term basis. (Id.)
A municipal land use board is not bound by expert testimony offered by an applicant or
an objector. It can reject that expert testimony as long as there is “legally competent” evidence
in the record to support the rejection of any such opinion. Restivo v. Lynch, 707 A.2d 663, 66669 (R.I. 1998); Montessori Centre of Barrington, Inc. v. Zoning Board of Review for the Town
of Barrington, No. PC-2007-0079, 2008 WL 5478313 (R.I. Super. Ct. Dec. 18, 2008). Such
competent evidence can include personal observations or local knowledge in the unique
possession of municipal board members, as long as those grounds are sufficiently identified and
articulated in the record. Lynch, 707 A.2d at 666-69; Montessori, 2008 WL 5478313, at p. 11.
Here, the Planning Commission relied on multiple factors in the record to reject Ferrari’s
opinion. First, the Town already approved water supply access for Rolling Greens. Second, in
connection with preparation for the Preliminary Plan hearing, the Town specifically engaged
Pare Corporation to revisit the water supply issues. Pare concluded that any change in the
underlying development plans since 2016 were insignificant, and that the municipal water supply
system “has the capacity” to support the Project. This was directly contrary to Ferrari’s opinion,
55
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and the Commission was entitled to rely upon it. Finally, the Commission concluded that longterm water resource issues like those raised by Ferrari could not fairly be imposed upon a single
applicant – particularly one with prior approval – but were instead long-term planning issues that
a municipality would have to undertake separately “on a town-wide basis.” This reason was both
competent and fully articulated in the record.
Finally, it is not even clear that the long-term water supply issues raised by Ferrari would
fall within the types of “negative environmental impacts” addressed in Section 3.1(3) of the
Subdivision Regulations. Applicants respectfully submit that such language is intended to
address other conservation issues such as drainage, impact on groundwater and wetlands, sewer
systems, nitrate loading, and the like. All such issues were addressed in the record to the
satisfaction of the Planning Commission.
Accordingly, the Planning Commission properly rejected Ferrari’s opinions and had a
sound basis in the record for doing so.
3.

The Town Council Did Not Act as a Planning Board

Appellant next argues that the Town Council “acted like” a Planning Commission, in
violation of the Development Review Act. This argument is without merit. As noted above, the
Town Council merely made certain compromises in order to settle a lawsuit and resolve disputed
issues. It relieved the Applicants of any requirements associated with the 2017 amendments to
the CVD zone because of the Applicants’ pre-existing rights under a prior version of the
ordinance, and because of claims to that effect made by the Applicants in litigation. As part of
the exchange of compromises embodied in the Consent Judgment, Applicants agreed to reduce
their total nonresidential space to 26,000 square feet, even though their prior Master Plan
approval gave them the right to have as much as 40,000 square feet of commercial space. That
56
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voluntary reduction in commercial space led to a corresponding increase in the total bedrooms
associated with the residential dwelling units. 5 Any impact that minimal change may have had
on the underlying Master Plan approval was fully vetted and subjected to peer review prior to the
Planning Commission’s consideration of the Preliminary Plan.
It is also true that as part of the settlement negotiations, the parties agreed that the
Applicants could proceed as an “age-restricted” development rather than merely as “agetargeted.” In fact, the Applicants had originally preferred age-restriction. They have always
believed it would enhance marketability, while also limiting any impact on the school system.
The alternative of age-targeting actually evolved from the prior proceedings before the Planning
Commission in connection with the Master Plan, and was based on some preferences then
expressed by members of that body. But, during the settlement negotiations in 2019,
representatives of the Town involved in those discussions expressed a preference for agerestriction. That issue was discussed in considerable detail in multiple meetings before the
Planning Commission – the public hearings on February 18 and March 10, and at the final
meeting on April 9. The Planning Commission ultimately approved it unanimously. So that
element of the Consent Judgment has now been ratified by the Town Council and the Planning
Commission. No power or authority was usurped from the Planning Commission.
Accordingly, this case is nothing like Munroe v. Town of East Greenwich, 733 A.2d 703
(R.I. 1999), cited by Appellant. In that case a Town Council actually engaged in a traditional
planning function by approving a subdivision plan. Here, the Town Council merely approved
settlement of litigation, in light of contested issues raised in that litigation, and then left the

5

The Planning Commission also made specific findings about the resulting ratio of residential to non residential space, at Finding No. 9(e)(vi), and approved that ratio on terms set forth in its Decision.
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Planning Commission to address issues within its traditional domain – as evidenced by the
voluminous findings and conditions set forth in the Planning Commission’s detailed Decision.
4.

The Golf Clubhouse

The golf clubhouse at the golf course is a pre-existing use that was in place before the
filing of any applications associated with the proposed Project. As such any newly proposed
mixture of residential and nonresidential space excluded that pre-existing usage, which serves
the adjacent golf course and its customers. The Master Plan approval granted in 2012
specifically noted the existence of that pre-existing use and noted that the residential/commercial
mix then proposed would be located to the west of the golf course – i.e., it did not include the
golf course or the golf clubhouse. Moreover, at that time, the Planning Commission approved up
to 40,000 square feet of commercial space. As part of the settlement embodied in the Consent
Judgment, the Applicants voluntarily reduced that to 26,000 square feet, but with the existing
golf clubhouse still excluded. The whole point of the approved nonresidential space is to add
services for the residents of the Project – a restaurant, a bank branch, retail services, etc. That is
part of the inherent purpose of the CVD zone. 6 That purpose would not be served if the square
footage of the golf clubhouse was counted against the limited commercial space now approved
for the Rolling Greens development.7
In sum, the Planning Commission had the authority and discretion to exclude the preexisting golf course from the Master Plan approval granted in 2012, when it approved up to
40,000 square feet of commercial space, and it had the authority and discretion to exclude the

6

That is a mix specifically contemplated for the Rural Gateway area by the Comprehensive Plan.

7

As discussed during the hearing before the Planning Commission, and before the Town Council, the
Applicants have reserved the right to seek leave to expand or remodel the golf clubhouse at some future date. But,
pursuant to the terms of the Consent Judgment, in language that was specifically negotiated between the Town and
the Applicants, any such proposal would be “subject to municipal approvals at th[e] time.”
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golf clubhouse yet again in 2020 when it approved no more than 26,000 square feet of
commercial space. Neither action was contrary in any way to the Zoning Ordinance.
5.

The Golf Course / Open Space

The subject golf course is generally open to the public so this argument is based on a
false premise. In addition, the golf course does in fact provide the buffer associated with open
space adjacent to the proposed development. The Planning Commission specifically noted and
addressed that when it imposed Condition No. 22 in its Decision, permanently restricting any
future subdivision or development of the golf course so that it would remain as open,
undeveloped space in the future – either as a golf course or, in the alternative, as space for
“passive recreation.” This was specifically addressed at the hearing on March 10, 2020 and the
Applicants agreed with this condition. This issue is further addressed in Finding Nos. 9(e)(i) and
9(e)(x) of the Planning Commission’s Decision.
Accordingly, there is a specific basis in the record for the Commission’s resolution of this
issue, and there is no basis on which this body, siting on appeal, can or should find a violation of
Section 21-95(16) of the Zoning Ordinance. The proposed Rolling Greens development, as
approved by the Planning Commission, will have the required open space, and the Commission
took specific steps in its Decision to ensure that.
6.

The Proposed Development Is Sufficiently Interconnected

Section 21-95(8) of the Zoning Ordinance requires that vehicular, bicycle and pedestrian
traffic shall be “interconnected” within the CVD district and shall connect to adjacent land zoned
for business purposes. The record is clear that the Rolling Greens development is interconnected
for such purposes within its own boundaries. Traffic and pedestrian flow within the
development were specifically discussed at the public hearing and the Planning Commission
59
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made specific findings on those issues in Finding Nos. 9(e)(xi). That finding is supported by the
record in the form of Applicants’ plans and testimony by their experts. The Applicants were also
amenable to one suggested adjustment proposed by the Commission, as set forth in Finding No.
12(a). That ultimately led to Condition No. 20, to which the Applicants agreed.
It is not feasible, however, to “connect” the Project to the closest nearby existing business
use, the Back Forty restaurant, in the same way. A major intersection of two state highways
stands between the site of the proposed development and that establishment, and the Applicants
have worked diligently with state and municipal officials (including the Planning Commission)
to address issues concerning traffic flow at that intersection. The Commission was satisfied with
the resolution of those issues, as reflected in Finding No. 9(e)(vii) and No. 15, as well as
Condition Nos. 16 and 18. All such findings and conditions are fully supported in the record,
and some were discussed and addressed before the Technical Review Committee. But, residents
of the Rolling Greens development would certainly enjoy the ability to use any restaurant located
on that nearby property
The Rolling Greens development, as proposed by the Applicants and as approved by the
Planning Commission, does in fact create the “walkable village” contemplated by Zoning
Ordinance Section 21-95(3)(h). That is the specific purpose of the planned retail and
commercial establishments contemplated within the development as proposed, and the purpose
of the internal pedestrian and vehicular access in compliance with Section 21-95(8). There is no
basis on which this constitutes a violation of the Ordinance, or a basis on which this body should
reverse the Planning Commission’s decision.
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C.

CONCLUSION
For all of the foregoing reasons, and for reasons to be more fully set forth at this Board’s

meeting on June 4, 2020, there is no basis on which this Board should reverse the well-reasoned
and detailed decision of the Planning Commission. The Planning Commission’s decision was
not the result of any procedural error, or other clear error, and was amply supported by evidence
in a voluminous record before the Planning Commission. Accordingly, the decision of the
Planning Commission should be affirmed in all respects.

MARK L. HAWKINS, M.L. HAWK REALTY LLC,
JOSHUA L. HAWKINS and JAMM GOLF LLC
By their Attorneys,

/s/ Mark W. Freel
Mark W. Freel (#4003)
LOCKE LORD LLP
2800 Financial Plaza
Providence, RI 02903
(401) 274-9200
(401) 276-6611 (fax)
mark.freel@lockelord.com
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1
2

(COMMENCED AT 7:35 P.M.)
MR. GRUNDY:

Thank you, everyone, for all

3

the work getting online to make this meeting happen.

4

At this point I would like to call the Thursday,

5

April 9, 2020, Planning Commission meeting to order.

6

During the COVID-19, the April 9, 2020 Planning

7

Commission meeting is being streamed on a live link

8

which is posted on our agenda.

9

Commission members have been recognized and are on,

10
11

All Planning

and the sound is working.
At this point, Nicole, call the roll of each

12

person to come on.

As we go through, we'll be asking

13

questions in a roll-call format, and giving people in

14

the same format an opportunity to speak, try to make

15

this somewhat discernable for the court reporter.

16

if you want to call a roll --

17

MS. LAFONTAINE:

18

MR. GRUNDY:

19

VOICE:

20

MS. LAFONTAINE:

21

MR. JACKSON:

22

MS. LAFONTAINE:

23

MS. MCCUE:

24

MS. LAFONTAINE:

25

MR. ROACH:

So

Jim Grundy?

Here.

I cannot hear you.
Bob Jackson?

Here.
Tracey McCue?

Here.
Pat Roach?

Here.
66

Allied Court Reporters, Inc. (401)946-5500
115 Phenix Avenue, Cranston, RI 02920
www.alliedcourtreporters.com

M.L. Hawk Realty, LLC, et al. - Preliminary Plan Decision April 09, 2020
3
1

MS. LAFONTAINE:

2

MS. NICKLES:

3

MS. LAFONTAINE:

4

MR. DION:

5

MS. LAFONTAINE:

6

MR. GRUNDY:

Pat Nickles?

Here.
Paul Dion?

Here.
Everybody is here.

Thank you.

What I would

7

like to do is I will read the agenda item, and then

8

we'll have, if there's any additional comments from

9

the members of the Commission, we'll have an

10

opportunity when we get to that.

I'll ask you to

11

state your name as you're asking any questions, so the

12

reporter can get it.

13

The meeting has been posted with the Secretary of

14

State pursuant to Rhode Island General Law 42-46-6(c).

15

The item on the agenda tonight, Item 3A is, Further

16

discussion/decision:

17

for the application of ML Hawk Realty, LLC, JAMM Golf,

18

LLC, Joshua L. Hawkins, Mark L. Hawkins, and ML Hawk

19

Real Estate, LLC, for a major land development project

20

known as The Preserve at Rolling Greens, a proposed

21

mixed-use compact village development at Assesor's

22

Plat 110, Lots 2 - 7 and 9 - 11, and Assessor's

23

Plat 126, Lot 5, located on Ten Rod Road at the South

24

County Trail intersection, in a compact village

25

development zoning

Preliminary plan public hearing

district and groundwater 2 overlay
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2

zone.
Proposed project includes 212 bedrooms in a mix

3

of unit styles and 26,000 square feet of commercial

4

space.

5

will remain ,and a civic building for the residential

6

development are also proposed.

7

continued from February 18, March 10, March 24.

8

meeting has been deemed, meeting has been deemed

9

essential.

A new clubhouse for the golf course, which

This meeting is
This

10

That being said, I would like to confirm that all

11

the members did receive copies of the preliminary plan

12

draft that was compiled based upon our last meeting.

13

We had public comment.

14

meeting.

15

the draft decision that was sent?

That would be the 3/10/2020

Has everyone had time to review and go over

16

MS. NICKLES:

17

MR. DION:

18

MR. ROACH:

19

MR. JACKSON:

20

MS. MCCUE:

21

MR. GRUNDY:

Yes.

Yes:
Yes.
Yes, yes.
Yes.
During the time that this

22

was out, I know there were some comments, corrections,

23

clarifications that were sent into the Commission.

24

Before we get into the reading of what the draft says,

25

which is 13 pages, does anyone have any additional
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1

questions or comments on anything in either of the two

2

draft decisions?

3

MR. DION:

I do.

4

MS. NICKLES:

5

MR. DION:

Go ahead, Paul.

So I'm on, I don't think it

6

matters which decision, but it's Page 12 of 13,

7

Item 12.

8

11 affordable units, 10 percent, which meets the

9

inclusionary standards.

So it says the applicant shall provide

Locations which will be

10

scattered throughout the site and not situated in one

11

particular area.

12

final plan set, shall be constructed in proportion of

13

the total units.

14

and agreed upon at final plan submission approval.

15

Locations shall be depicted in the

Schedule for such shall be submitted

I have a question.

There are currently 106

16

units, so obviously 11 is the 10 percent of 106, but

17

there are 212 bedrooms.

18

condition.

19

condition, yes.

20

the units have to be affordable, but it makes no

21

reference to whether -- I mean, I should be careful.

22

I want to be careful.

23

So the only -- I think it's a

I'm going to clarify that that's a
This condition only says that 11 of

I don't understand it.

Let me put it that way.

24

It's not clear to me that it makes reference to

25

whether the affordables are going to be a mix of two
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and one bedrooms.

2

can all be one bedroom, 11 one-bedroom units.

3

would leave 201 bedrooms to be split up across

4

95 market-rate units.

5

As I read this, it looks like it
That

I know it does say in here shall be constructed

6

in proportion to the total units, but that, to me,

7

doesn't address the bedrooms, unless I'm misreading

8

it.

9

MR. GRUNDY:

Paul, it's Jim speaking.

My

10

interpretation of that word proportion means that it's

11

going to reflect proportionately the size and bedroom

12

count of the units that they're planning on making.

13

think that that's something that we, as a Commission,

14

are going to have to confirm and implement, but I

15

think that if you want to make, if we make that

16

statement on the record tonight, then that would be

17

what our definition of proportional means.

18

be how we would review it when it comes in, if it gets

19

to final.

20

MR. DION:

I

That would

My biggest concern, Jim, is in

21

the recent decree there is that language.

I've got to

22

find it; I apologize.

23

applicant's ability to do things, not quite this

24

livid, but as they deem appropriate?

25

only -- I wish I could find the exact words.

Is the language regarding the

So if they
I talked
70

Allied Court Reporters, Inc. (401)946-5500
115 Phenix Avenue, Cranston, RI 02920
www.alliedcourtreporters.com

M.L. Hawk Realty, LLC, et al. - Preliminary Plan Decision April 09, 2020
7
1
2

about it before in a previous meeting.
Oh, sorry, applicant's discretion.

So if the

3

applicant's discretion is to have 11 one-bedroom units

4

scattered throughout the development, I get that, and

5

distributed 201 bedrooms across 95 units, which I know

6

the math doesn't work quite right, but it would seem

7

to me those affordables should reflect the

8

distribution of the bedrooms across the units of the

9

development as a whole.

10

I'm concerned about that, in the applicant's

11

discretion, the language that is in the consent

12

agreement.

13

MR. GRUNDY:

You're talking about the

14

second paragraph of Page 2 of the consent agreement,

15

the last section where it references 197 bedrooms?

16

MR. DION:

No, no, Page 4.

It's

17

letter B.

18

residential dwellings, including 9 existing bedrooms

19

associated with the 4 residential existing dwelling

20

units -- sorry, I guess it's down to 203 -- to be

21

located throughout the development in the applicant's

22

discretion in one-bedroom and two-bedroom units.

23

It says up to 212 bedrooms and up to 106

So does that mean that the applicant can

24

determine that the 11 affordables should just be

25

one-bedroom units?

I just want a clarification
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whether that's the case.

2

MR. CALLAHAN:

Well, that doesn't refer

3

to the inclusionary zoning.

4

distribution of the units throughout the project.

5

inclusionary zoning will be dealt with at final plan.

6

MR. DION:

Just referring to
The

Just to be clear, Solicitor,

7

we would be able to enforce in the inclusionary zoning

8

for it to be representative of the distribution up to

9

two- and one-bedroom units throughout the development?

10
11

MR. CALLAHAN:

Nothing in the consent

judgment which would prevent that.

12

MR. DION:

Again, I'm going to beat the

13

horse that's almost dead, but not quite.

14

units were two bedroom and half were one bedroom, we

15

could not impose on the applicant that half the

16

affordables have to be two bedroom and half the

17

affordables have to be one bedroom; am I correct in

18

understanding that?

19

MR. CALLAHAN:

Yes.

If half the

I don't expect that

20

will be the case, but I believe you would be able to

21

do that, yes.

22

MR. DION:

Does it hurt to have -- I

23

don't want to gum up the works here.

I just want to

24

make sure -- I don't know.

25

discretion has always left me uncomfortable, which is

In the applicant's
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1

the reason I brought it up the very first time I saw

2

that.

3

not being able to enforce it.

I'm just concerned about that showing up and us

4
5

MR. CALLAHAN:
the --

6

MR. FREEL:

7

me on this?

8

to hear from me on this?

9
10

That's referencing to

Would you like to hear from

Matt, this is Mark Freel.

MR. CALLAHAN:

Would you like

If you have something to

clarify the issue, Mark, yes.

11

MR. FREEL:

Yes.

We have never, we don't

12

want 11 one-bedroom affordable units either.

13

wants a mix.

14

bedrooms than one bedrooms out of the 11.

15

were to, for instance, require a 50/50 split, not only

16

would that be fine with us, we might even want to go a

17

little more two bedrooms in that split.

18

going to be a problem with us.

19

Mark

In fact, he would like probably more two

MR. GRUNDY:

So if you

This is not

Attorney Freel, this is Jim

20

Grundy.

21

definition of proportional as written in Condition 12

22

would give us the flexibility and the ability to reach

23

an agreement as to how many one bedroom and two

24

bedrooms at the final level?

25

Would you be willing to agree that the

MR. FREEL:

Yes.
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1

MR. GRUNDY:

Paul, with that assurance as

2

a condition that we would be able to set, does that

3

satisfy you?

4

MR. DION:

So yes, in large part, but

5

Attorney Freel, I want to be clear here.

6

client willing to agree to that?

7
8

MR. FREEL:

Yes.

Is your

I've been communicating

with him during this meeting.

9

MR. DION:

10

MR. FREEL:

Okay.

I want to make sure.

Absolutely.

I can't stick my

11

neck out without knowing that, but it's a fair

12

question, but the answer is yes.

13
14

MR. DION:

I can probably

live with it, Jim.

15

MR. GRUNDY:

16

MR. DION:

17

MR. GRUNDY:

18

All right.

Thank you, Paul.
Thank you.
Paul, do you have any other

questions?

19

MR. DION:

20

MR. GRUNDY:

Not at this time.
Any other Commission members

21

that have questions on the document as it was drafted?

22

Okay, hearing no questions, additional questions, at

23

this point I will begin the task of reading this into

24

the record.

25

additional questions, we will have time for more

Then after that, if there are any
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2

discussion.
The date today is April 9, 2020.

Previous

3

meetings for the preliminary plan decision were held

4

on February 18, 2020, March 10, 2020, March 24, 2020.

5

The applicant/owner of Plat 110, Lot 002, JAMM Golf,

6

LLC; Plat 110, Lots 3 through 7, Mark L. Hawkins;

7

Plat 110, Lot 9, Joshua Hawkins; Plat 110, Lot 10,

8

Mark Hawkins; Plat 110, Lot 11, ML Hawk Real Estate,

9

LLC; Plat 126, Lot 5, Mark L. Hawkins.

10

Subject premises:

Assessor's Plat 110, Lots 2

11

through 7 and 9 through 11, and Assesor's Plat 126,

12

Lot 5 located on Ten Rod Road, includes existing

13

Rolling Greens golf course.

14

village development.

15

Property zoned compact

The action is the approval of a preliminary plan

16

for a major land development project, a proposed mixed

17

use compact village development, including 212

18

bedrooms in a mix of unit styles, and 26,000 square

19

feet of commercial space.

20

golf course, which will remain, and a civic building

21

for the residential development also proposed.

22
23
24
25

A new clubhouse for the

We have a list of applicable documents.

Matt, do

you feel we need to read the applicable documents?
MR. CALLAHAN:

I don't think so.

We can

just make them as they will be a part of the decision
75

Allied Court Reporters, Inc. (401)946-5500
115 Phenix Avenue, Cranston, RI 02920
www.alliedcourtreporters.com

M.L. Hawk Realty, LLC, et al. - Preliminary Plan Decision April 09, 2020
12
1

itself.

2

MR. GRUNDY:

Applicable documents begin

3

on Page 1.

4

the entirety of Page 3, and they are the first

5

paragraph of Page 4.

6

They are the entirety of Page 2.

We also have applicable plans:

They are

Plans of survey

7

for Assessor's Plat 110, Lots 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 9, 10

8

and 11, Plat 126, Lot 5 in North Kingstown,

9

Rhode Island, from Mark L. Hawkins, prepared by Daniel

10

Harrington, III, dated 9/18/12, revised 8/19/16.

11

We also have preliminary site plans for the

12

Preserve at Rolling Greens situated on Ten Rod Road,

13

North Kingstown, Assessor's Plat 110, Lots 2 through 7

14

and 9 through 11, Assessor's Plat 126, Lot 5, prepared

15

by Garafalo and Associates for ML Hawk Realty, LLC,

16

et al., 1625 Ten Rod Road, North Kingstown, dated

17

July '15, revised July 2019, which includes the

18

following sheets with the latest revisions.

19

all listed to the bottom of Page 4 of 13 and

20

constitute the top paragraph of Page 5 of 13.

21

They are

The exhibits are the consent judgment, Number

22

17-55491-JJM-LDA; the 2016 Town Council vote for water

23

main extension and 2019 re-evaluation; Northeast Water

24

Solutions, Inc., summary engineering assessment of

25

water resources and water supply regarding the
76

Allied Court Reporters, Inc. (401)946-5500
115 Phenix Avenue, Cranston, RI 02920
www.alliedcourtreporters.com

M.L. Hawk Realty, LLC, et al. - Preliminary Plan Decision April 09, 2020
13
1

proposed Reserve at Rolling Greens development in

2

North Kingstown, Rhode Island, prepared by J. William

3

Harsch, Esquire, and Associates, dated September 30,

4

2016, updated February 24, 2020.

5

Next we have findings of fact.

6

MR. CALLAHAN:

Have we put on the record

7

yet that the meeting is being stenographically

8

recorded and also streamlined?

9

your name on the record as to you are a stenographer

10

Liz, please just state

and who you're doing this for.

11

THE REPORTER:

Hello.

I am Elizabeth

12

Greeley, certified court reporter, and I work with

13

Allied Court Reporters, Inc.

14

MR. GRUNDY:

Next we have findings of

15

fact.

16

presented with the consideration that the application

17

is at the preliminary plan stage and is subject to

18

slight changes and revisions, the Planning Commission

19

makes the following findings of fact and reaches the

20

following decision:

21

Based upon the application and documentation

One, the subject property currently exists as

22

Assessor's Plat 110, Lots 2 through 7, 9 through 11

23

and Assessor's Plat 126, Lot 5, property located on

24

Ten Rod Road at the intersection of South County Trail

25

and is approximately 129.85 acres.
77

Allied Court Reporters, Inc. (401)946-5500
115 Phenix Avenue, Cranston, RI 02920
www.alliedcourtreporters.com

M.L. Hawk Realty, LLC, et al. - Preliminary Plan Decision April 09, 2020
14
1

Two, pre-application for the project was

2

submitted in 2009 and reviewed by the Planning

3

Commission in 2010.

4

Plan and Zoning Ordinance amendments for a mixed use

5

planned village overlay in September 2010, which were

6

then withdrawn.

7

March 2011, and the master plan was approved in

8

December 2012.

9

The applicant filed Comprehensive

The master plan was resubmitted in

The Routes 2/102 stakeholder visioning process

10

occurred in 2012.

11

September of 2012.

12

compact village development in June 2014.

13

properties are subject to Comprehensive Plan changes,

14

including rural gateway, 2012, Route 2/102

15

villages/rural/gateway/community services/mapping in

16

2014.

17

The site visit was held in
Subject properties were rezoned to
The subject

According to the consent judgment, the property

18

is not subject to the August 2017 Town Council

19

rezoning.

20

Three, the preliminary plan submission was

21

considered complete on January 15, 2020.

22

Review Committee reviewed this application at its

23

February 12, 2020 meeting.

24

in The Independent on January 30, 2020.

25

Technical

The hearing was advertised

Four, the proposed development received approval
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1

for a water main extension on July 18, 2016.

Subject

2

properties for the proposed development is within the

3

water service area and have obtained approval by the

4

Town Council for the extension of water mains on

5

July 18, 2016.

6

Revised plans were submitted for review by Pare.

7

It was determined that the total average daily demand

8

did not change, and the revisions of the project did

9

not warrant additional hydraulic modeling.

10

Five, the master plan was approved in December

11

2012 with an extension obtained in 2019.

12

preliminary plan includes 106 dwelling units

13

containing 212 bedrooms in an arrangement of

14

single-family style, two-family style and townhouse

15

units.

16

Assessor's Plat 110, Lot 5, is to remain, and 2

17

two-bedroom single-family houses are to remain,

18

Assessor's Plat 110, Lot 2, and Assessor's Plat 110,

19

Lot 7.

20

The

One existing 3-bedroom single-family house is

These existing properties front Ten Rod Road.

There will be no live/work units.

The

21

residential units are located on a loop road beginning

22

to the north of the commercial when accessed by the

23

main entrance adjacent to South County Trail and

24

continues east to the secondary entrance across from

25

Plain Road.
79

Allied Court Reporters, Inc. (401)946-5500
115 Phenix Avenue, Cranston, RI 02920
www.alliedcourtreporters.com

M.L. Hawk Realty, LLC, et al. - Preliminary Plan Decision April 09, 2020
16
1

Six, the golf course remains at its current

2

location with the construction of a new clubhouse and

3

redeveloped parking area.

4

the development is located at the main entrance and

5

includes a 15,00 square-foot building, a 5,000

6

square-foot building, and two 3,000 square-foot

7

buildings.

The commercial portion of

8

Seven, the subject property is subject to a

9

consent judgment, Number 17-00491-JJM-LDA, which

10

allows no more than 26,000 square feet of

11

nonresidential commercial space, not including the

12

golf clubhouse which shall remain as a preexisting

13

recreational use.

14

The applicants reserves the right to seek to

15

expand the golf clubhouse sometime in the future,

16

without expanding or altering the underlying use

17

subject to applicable municipal approvals at the time.

18

Any additional square footage associated with the

19

expansion of the golf clubhouse will not count towards

20

the 26,000 square feet.

21

15,000 square feet of commercial space in any one

22

building.

23

There shall be no more than

The judgment specifies -- this is A.

Judgment

24

specifies that the applicant may develop up to 212

25

bedrooms and up to 106 residential dwelling units,
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1

including nine existing bedrooms associated with four

2

existing residential units, to be located throughout

3

the development in the applicant's discretion in

4

one-bedroom and two-bedroom units subject to the

5

ability to satisfy any associated nitrate loading

6

requirements and subject to the requirements of

7

Section 21-95 of the Zoning Ordinance, but not to

8

include the amendments to the CVD district approved by

9

the Town Council on or about August 28, 2017,

10

including average bedroom counts per unit and maximum

11

bedrooms per acre.

12

B, the applicant can address any nitrate loading

13

issues by other means, such as making changes in the

14

proposed commercial space or usage thereof.

15

development shall be age restricted to at least one

16

occupant 55 years of age or older.

17

for the details listed within the judgment.

18

development must be consistent with the Town's master

19

plan approval and with the approval of the preliminary

20

plan.

21

The

Exceptions made
The

Eight, the proposed subdivision/land development

22

is consistent with the requirements of the North

23

Kingstown Comprehensive Plan.

24

designated in North Kingstown's Comprehensive Plan as

25

a scenic area.

A, the site is

B, the subject properties are within
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1

the rural gateway land use designation as defined in

2

the North Kingstown Comprehensive Plan.

3

C, the Planning Commission finds the development

4

meets elements of the North Kingstown Comprehensive

5

Plan, particularly Element 8, in how the plan

6

addresses nutrients, nutrient loads, units per acre,

7

and mixed use.

8

Comprehensive Plan.

9

CVD is also identified in the

Nine, the Planning Commission finds each lot, as

10

proposed, in the land development/subdivision conforms

11

to the standards and provisions of the North Kingstown

12

Zoning Ordinance.

13

10.3 acres of unsuitable land for development,

14

containing freshwater wetlands and water bodies.

15

Approximately 119.55 acres are considered suitable for

16

development.

17

along the northeast corner of the development.

18

A, there are approximately

The wetlands/water bodies are located

B, the applicant's engineer, Sam Hemenway, PE,

19

testified that the project has been designed as a

20

condominium development and will combine the existing

21

ten lots to four lots.

22

will be removed.

23

although the lots will be slightly reconfigured.

24

OWTS systems will be installed if the existing OWTS

25

systemss are found to be in nonconformance.

One existing structure house

The remaining three will remain,
New

There are
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1

seven existing bedrooms.

2

C, inside the groundwater zone two, and outside

3

the urban service boundary, the applicant is allowed

4

3.5 bedrooms per 2 acres of buildable land.

5

density does not remove the need for the proposals to

6

meet the nitrate loading standard of 5 milligrams per

7

liter.

8
9

Bedroom

D, the applicant will meet the inclusionary
zoning requirements.

The units are to be affordable

10

for not less than 99 years and shall be renewable for

11

the same term upon resale of the unit.

12

E, the proposed development meets the

13

requirements of the compact village development

14

ordinance.

15

project allows for the preservation of the golf

16

course.

17

percentage of open space and therefore shall be deed

18

restricted for preservation with a development

19

easement granted to the Town of North Kingstown.

20

No relief is requested.

Sub I, the

The golf course accounts for a portion of the

II, the project requires a minimum of a 150-foot

21

setback from the property line to the first commercial

22

property.

23

municipal water supply has been approved by the Town

24

Council.

25

applicant's proposal and is incorporated within the

III, the connection to the North Kingstown

IV, the phasing has been addressed by the
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1
2

submitted preliminary plan set.
V, the applicant will meet the inclusionary unit

3

requirements and incorporate in a manner traditionally

4

required by the Planning Commission, which is

5

proportionate to the issuance of the certificate of

6

occupancy for non-deed restricted units.

7

VI, the Planning Commission has considered the

8

residential and nonresidential use, the nearby

9

properties, and the potential future development of

10

the surrounding properties in its deliberations and

11

has considered the historical development patterns and

12

traditional villages in review of its proposed.

13

Commission finds that based on preliminary design

14

plans presened for residential development in Rolling

15

Greens, including data submitted by the applicant's

16

project engineer, and assuming the full build-out of

17

nonresidential space to the 26,000 square feet

18

permitted by the consent judgment, the ratio of

19

residential to nonresidential footprint area in the

20

development would be approximately 7.8 to 1.

21

This includes the existing residential units.

22

The Commission finds that this ratio is

23

reasonable and is within the range contemplated for

24

the CVD zone.

25

within the Rolling Green development becomes final,

As building footprints and layouts
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1

this ratio may fluctuate and any such fluctuation

2

shall be acceptable as long as it does not

3

substantially deviate from the ratio set forth above

4

or from the preliminary plans presented by the

5

applicant.

6

In any event, in all such cases, the applicant

7

shall remain entitled to, and shall be limited by, the

8

212 bedrooms within 106 residential dwelling units and

9

the 26,0000 square feet of commercial space, not

10

including the golf clubhouse, set forth in the consent

11

judgment.

12

VII, the capacity of the roadways has been

13

addressed through the traffic studies.

14

utilities proposed for this have been approved by

15

relevant agencies as applicable or details have been

16

provided within the application.

17

show the applicant understands there is a requirement

18

for underground electric.

19

VIII, the
the

Sub one, the designs

IX, the commercial versus residential use has

20

been determined in accordance with the consent

21

judgment.

22

or recreation area meets the requirement of the CVD at

23

40 percent.

24
25

X, the percentage of protected open space

XI, the plan chose a clear, contiguous pedestrian
non-motorized circulation network within the
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1

development through the sidewalks.

2

includes walkways, sitting areas and landscaping.

3

landscaped areas and fences are included with visual

4

divides and barriers to assist in providing a safe,

5

broadened, identifiable way to walk.

6

The network
The

XII, the design guidelines of Section 21-269,

7

Section 3, shall be adhered to.

8

specifications will be submitted.

9

documents shall include and be incorporated into the

10
11

Supplemental design
The required design

legal documents.
Sub one, Donald Powers of Union Studios testified

12

regarding the submitted residential and commercial

13

design concepts.

14

areas are intended to be of a small scale.

15

is consistent with the five previously submitted, and

16

represents a modification as a result of the consent

17

agreement.

18

which are an example of duplex units, represent

19

cottage scale architecture.

20

two-story structures.

21

could include a cottage court, which would be small

22

single units organized around a center green space or

23

courtyard with remote parking.

24
25

Mr. Powers indicated the commercial
The layout

The residential elevations submitted,

The elevations depict

There is also an area that

XIII, the applicant submitted two fiscal impact
analyses, one without children and one with school
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1

children.

Both represented a total population of 206,

2

and if there were to be students, a projection of 28.

3

Number 10, the Planning Commission finds at this

4

stage that there will be no significant negative

5

environmental impacts from the proposed land

6

development/subdivision as shown in the final plan,

7

with all required conditions for approval.

8
9

A, the subject properties are not located within
a natural heritage area or the Narrow River SAMP.

10

B, the subject property is in the groundwater Zone 2

11

protection area.

12

located within the Town's water service area and are

13

located outside of Rhode Island Statewide Planning

14

Urban Service Boundaries.

15

C, the subject properties are

D, the applicant's engineer, Sam Hemenway,

16

testified the project is subject to the underground

17

injection control program, a RIPDES permit, OWTS

18

approval by state agencies.

19

the conservation design, which is the basis of the CVD

20

design, is the preferred strategy to accommodate

21

environmental concerns related to drainage.

22

E, Mr. Hemenway indicated

F, approval has been granted by DEM for three

23

onsite wastewater treatment systems proposed for the

24

development, which when connected, constitutes a

25

private sewer system.

One system is proposed for the
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1

restaurant, one for the commercial, and one for the

2

residential.

3

G, a nitrate loading evaluation has been

4

submitted for this project, reviewed by Town staff,

5

and reviewed by a third-party consultant.

6

Pierce finds the developer's methodology and

7

calculations to be valid and reasonable.

8

applicant's calculations were found to be slightly

9

higher due to incorporation of pet waste.

Wright

The

The

10

applicant has indicated that a conventional septic

11

system would provide calculations of 6.38 milligrams

12

per liter, while the proposed private wastewater

13

treatment facility provides calculations of

14

4.65 milligrams.

15

H, the Planning Commission finds the conditions

16

related to fertilizer, water use, units per acre,

17

impervious coverage to ensure there are no significant

18

negative environmental impacts.

19

Ferrari, PE, of Northeast Water Solutions was hired by

20

Attorney Harsh/Attorney Kelley Morris Salvatore

21

representing abutter Rickey Thompson.

22

believes this will have a negative impact on the

23

entire Town.

24
25

Sub I, Robert

The abutter

Sub I, Mr. Ferrari indicated his testimony was
originally prepared in 2016 but not presented.
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1

Mr. Ferrari has updated his report which was limited

2

to water distribution systems, design, operation, and

3

water resources.

4

Commission on March 10, 2020.

5

found that Mr. Ferrari's expertise related to Townwide

6

water supply and was not specific to the Rolling

7

Greens project, which has already been accepted and

8

approved by the Town Council for public water.

9

He presented to the Planning
The Planning Commission

II, the Planning Commission finds the Townwide

10

water concerns cannot be tied to this specific project

11

and needs to be addressed on a Townwide basis.

12

Eleven, the Planning Commission finds that the

13

proposed development provides for adequate surface

14

water runoff at this stage for stormwater management

15

and erosion control measures, shall comply with RIDEM

16

regulations.

17

Twelve, the Planning Commission finds that the

18

land development/subdivision, as proposed, will not

19

result in the creation of individual lots with such

20

physical constraints to development that building on

21

those lots according to pertinent regulations and

22

building standards would be impractical.

23

will be constructed in a manner that meets the

24

standards of the Town.

25

The roads

Sub A, the Planning Commission finds that there
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1

may be a conflict of traffic and parking at the eight

2

units on the access road to and from the golf course

3

and has requested alternative designs to alleviate the

4

potential conflicts to be submitted with final

5

approval application.

6

testified that the irrigation system at the golf

7

course is fueled by a pond that is on the site and is

8

not going to be fueled by public water.

Sub B, the applicant's attorney

9

Thirteen, the Planning Commission also finds that

10

the proposed land development/subdivision provides for

11

the preservation of natural, historical, or cultural

12

feature that contribute to the attractiveness of the

13

community.

14

A, the proposed land development/subdivision

15

includes over 40 percent open space.

B, the project

16

is at a scale amenable to walking and congregation.

17

C, there will be adequate buffering providing around

18

the individual units to create private space and

19

create boundaries of the common area.

20

Fourteen, the proposed land

21

development/subdivision lots have adequate and

22

permanent physical access to a public street.

23

property has frontage on Ten Rod Road.

24

points are proposed to Ten Rod Road.

25

entrance is at South County Trail/Ten Rod Road

Subject

Two access

The main
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1

intersection, and a secondary entrance is proposed at

2

Abigail Way.

3

intersection.

4

Traffic shall exit at the main

Fifteen, Planning Commission finds that the

5

proposed land development/subdivision provides for

6

safe circulation of pedestrian and vehicular traffic.

7

Sub A, Planning Commission finds that the proposed

8

development provides for safe circulation of

9

pedestrian traffic through the sidewalk network.

10

Sub B, the roads are proposed as private roads,

11

with the maintenance to be the responsibility of the

12

condo and other owners.

13

off-street parking, and the applicant has also

14

provided areas for remote visitor parking.

15

parking will not be prohibited.

16

Sub C, each unit will have

On-street

Sub D, the Planning Commission finds that the

17

roads are designed to Town standards.

18

engineer and fire marshal have concerns on

19

configuration, the applicant will work with these

20

departments to alleviate such concerns prior to the

21

final plan submission.

22

Where the Town

Sub E, Mr. Todd Brayton, PE, Bryant Associates,

23

testified that his firm has been working on the

24

traffic analysis at this location for approximately

25

ten years.

There have been multiple peer reviews
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1

during this time, and the proposed development has

2

obtained RIDOT PAP approval, both on the original

3

design and the amended design.

4

Sub F, primary access will be at the intersection

5

of South County Trail and Ten Rod Road.

Sub G,

6

Mr. Brayton testified there will be poor level of

7

service, even under no-build conditionS, which CAN be

8

improved with signal timing mitigation.

9

Sub H, Mr. Brayton testified that the original

10

traffic counts were completed in July and following

11

counts were done in October to account for public

12

school traffic and University of Rhode Island traffic.

13

Mr. Brayton testified he compared the July and October

14

counts using a growth rate due to different years and

15

found there was not a huge difference between the

16

volume counts that were counted in the summer versus

17

the school year.

18

weekdays volume for both cases.

19

Saturday is lower volumes than the

Sub I, Planning Commission finds that there are

20

concerns from the Technical Review Committee,

21

including the police department, regarding the signal

22

timing and approach to the light.

23

testified that striping and signage changes can be

24

accommodated through a coordinated modification with

25

RIDOT.

Mr. Brayton

92

Allied Court Reporters, Inc. (401)946-5500
115 Phenix Avenue, Cranston, RI 02920
www.alliedcourtreporters.com

M.L. Hawk Realty, LLC, et al. - Preliminary Plan Decision April 09, 2020
29
1

Mr. Brayton testified that a no-left turn sign to

2

restrict westbound entering traffic can be installed,

3

and there is potential to redesign the secondary

4

entrance-only intersection on Ten Rod Road at Plain

5

Road to better designate the no left-hand turn

6

requirement, which shall be submitted with the final

7

approval application package.

8
9

Sub J, traffic analysis was peer reviewed by
Beta, Inc.

10
11

MR. DION:

Can we just go back to 15C for

one second?

12

MR. GRUNDY:

13

MR. DION:

Yes, we can.
Can you just reread it?

14

want to make sure my copy is the same that you're

15

reading.

I

16

MR. GRUNDY:

Each unit will have

17

off-street parking, and the applicant has also

18

provided areas for remote visitor parking.

19

parking will not be prohibited.

20

MR. DION:

On-street

Just to be clear, so each unit

21

will have off-street parking.

22

parking, and then we're going to allow on-street

23

parking on top of that; is that correct?

24
25

We have remote visitor

It seems weird to have on-street parking will not
be prohibited.

I can see if it said will be
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1

prohibited, but I'm not sure why you need remote

2

visitor parking if you're allowing on-street parking.

3
4

MR. GRUNDY:

Would you like to strike

that comment as redundant?

5

MR. DION:

I'm not sure I understand.

6

might be in there for a good reason.

7

know what it is.

8

that?

9

I just do not

Nicole, can you shed some light on

MS. LAFONTAINE:

It came from the

10

testimony at the meeting.

11

remote parking.

12

are going to have on-street parking, and there is

13

nothing in their conversation that prohibited it.

14

There are some applications right now that you had

15

prohibited on street.

16

They are going to have

They have parking spaces.

MR. DION:

Yes.

They also

So I assume the

17

limitation on on-street parking then is to not

18

interfere with public safety apparatus?

19
20

MS. LAFONTAINE:

Right.

In this case it

wasn't necessary from the review.

21
22

It

MR. DION:
quibble.

Well, never mind.

I won't

Thank you.

23

MR. GRUNDY:

24

MR. DION:

25

MR. GRUNDY:

Are you good, Paul?
I am.

Thank you.

Thank you.

Sixteen, the
94

Allied Court Reporters, Inc. (401)946-5500
115 Phenix Avenue, Cranston, RI 02920
www.alliedcourtreporters.com

M.L. Hawk Realty, LLC, et al. - Preliminary Plan Decision April 09, 2020
31
1

Planning Commission considered the requirement of

2

Section 21-186, Section G, Land Development and

3

Development Plan Review, for uses proposed in a

4

groundwater protection area.

5

considered the adequacy and suitability of the site

6

for the proposed use.

7

Planning Commission

Sub A, the applicant's representative

8

demonstrated that utilities and other public services

9

are available as documented through the staff report

10

and the department review letters included within the

11

reviewed materials.

12

Sub B, the applicant's engineer, Sam Hemenway,

13

testified the project utilizes best management

14

practices.

15

Sub C, the applicant is utilizing three separate

16

private on-site wastewater treatment systems, which

17

together create a private sewer system for the subject

18

property.

19

adequate, considering it has been reviewed by the

20

Town's engineering expertise and peer reviewed by

21

Wright Pierce regarding nitrate loading.

22

Additionally, the wastewater treatment requires RIDEM

23

approval to ensure its adequacy.

The Planning Commission finds the system is

24

Sub D, the applicant has submitted and testified

25

relating to stormwater management which has also been
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1

technically vetted by the Town and is also required to

2

be approved by RIDEM.

3

Town water.

4

approval.

5

Sub E, water source shall be

The applicant has obtained Town Council

Sub F, nitrate nutrient loading has been

6

submitted and peer reviewed.

7

loading analysis submitted to be satisfactory.

8

the applicant has submitted and testified to its soil

9

erosion and sediment control plans.

10

been reviewed by the Town engineer.

11

Peer review finds the
Sub G,

Plans have also

Sub H, there are provisions of appropriate

12

natural buffers for wetlands and surface water bodies.

13

Sub I, the impact on public and private water supplies

14

and the proposed groundwater withdrawals have been

15

reviewed through the water main extension approval

16

process and the nitrate loading peer review.

17

Sub J, in relation to hazardous materials, the

18

applicant has testified and submitted a plan regarding

19

fertilizer limitations on site.

20

Sub K, the standards contained in Article VI of

21

Chapter 8 of the Code of Ordinance pertaining to

22

groundwater reservoirs and recharge areas have been

23

addressed by the applicant and reviewed by the Town's

24

engineering department, water department, the Town

25

Council water main extension approval, and the nitrate
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1
2

loading peer review.
Based on aforementioned findings, the Planning

3

Commission finds the application satisfies the

4

requirements of Section 3.1 of the Town of North

5

Kingstown's Subdivision and Land Development

6

Regulations.

7

Based on the aforementioned findings, the

8

Planning Commission finds that the application

9

satisfies the requirements of Section 21-95 of the

10

Town of North Kingstown's Zoning Ordinance relating to

11

compact village development.

12

Based on the aforementioned finding, the Planning

13

Commission finds the application satisfies the

14

requirements of Section 21-186, Section G, land

15

development and development plan review for uses

16

proposed in a groundwater protection area.

17

Therefore, the Planning Commission may vote

18

whatever the vote may be.

The first call would be to

19

approve the application for preliminary plan approval,

20

subject to the following conditions based on all

21

submitted materials and documentation:

22

install the sewer system, the developer must follow

23

the Town's sewer installation standards.

24

independent inspector is requested for sewer

25

construction.

One, to

A separate
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1

Two, all project infrastructure, roads, sewers,

2

water, wastewater, stormwater, shall be private.

3

Three, development plan review shall be required for

4

all commercial spaces.

5

Four, the applicant may mix the types of units as

6

the development moves forward, as long as the number

7

of units does not exceed 106 units, nor does the

8

number of bedrooms exceed 212 in a mix of one- and

9

two-bedroom units.

10

Five --

11

MR. DION:

Jim, sorry to interrupt you.

12

So I just want to be clear here.

13

says the applicant may mix the types of units in the

14

development -- sorry, types of units as the

15

development moves forward as long as the number of

16

units does not exceed 106 units, nor does the number

17

of bedrooms exceed 212 in a mix of one- and

18

two-bedroom units.

19

On number four, it

Is that 212 the correct number?

Aren't some of

20

those bedrooms already allocated to the existing

21

houses?

22

MR. GRUNDY:

I'm going back to the

23

consent agreement.

In the consent agreement on

24

Page 4, Section B, it says up to 212 bedrooms and up

25

to 106 residential dwellings (including 9 existing
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1

bedrooms associated with 4 existing residential

2

dwelling units).

3

the very first sentence.

4

applicant's ability to satisfy nitrate loading.

5

So that's direct from our Page 4,

MR. DION:

That is also subject to the

Understood.

I guess in the

6

consent agreement, the parenthetical including 9

7

existing bedrooms associated with 4 existing

8

residential units is in there for a reason.

9

think that we would want to copy that language.

10

I would

Right now, remember, the way I'm reading this,

11

the development is a mix of one- and two-bedroom

12

units.

13

could have 106 one- to two-bedroom units as long as

14

you didn't exceed the 212 bedroom.

15

the existing residential properties -- I thought one

16

had at least three bedrooms.

17

This number would seem to indicate that you

MR. GRUNDY:

We know some of

I have no objection to

18

adding the verbiage to directly reflect Item B as it's

19

written on Page 4 of the consent agreement.

20

convenience, if you want, Paul, if that's acceptable

21

to you, we can go to each of the members and see if

22

anyone has any objection to adding that language.

23

MR. DION:

24

MR. GRUNDY:

25

For

That is acceptable to me.
Okay.

At this point I would

ask Pat Roach, is that acceptable to you?
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1

MR. ROACH:

2

MR. GRUNDY:

3

MS. MCCUE:

4

MR. GRUNDY:

5

MS. NICKLES:

6

MR. GRUNDY:

7

MR. JACKSON:

8

MR. GRUNDY:

9
10

Acceptable to me.
Tracey?
Acceptable to me.
Pat Nickles?
That's acceptable to me.
Bob?
Acceptable to me.
Any vote we take would

include that change of verbiage.
this point?

Everyone good to

We can move to Number 5.

11

MR. DION:

12

MR. GRUNDY:

Thank you.
Thank you.

Number 5 -- good

13

catch, Paul -- design of each residential structure

14

and site layout will be reviewed through the building

15

permit process.

16

incorporated into the legal documents for the

17

development.

18

Design documents shall be

Six, a private irrigation system shall be

19

installed from outdoor watering.

20

be used for outdoor watering.

21

pertains to the golf course.

22

utilize Town water for irrigation.

No Town water shall

This condition also
Golf course will not

23

Seven, fertilizers shall only be used in the

24

minimum amounts as recommended by the manufacturer and

25

in locations as depicted on the fertilizer limitation
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1

materials submitted.

2

fertilizer shall be transferred to a clearly labeled

3

weatherproof, sealable plastic bin.

4

only be utilized in the areas shown on the fertilizer

5

limitations plan.

6

Contents of any unused

Fertilizer shall

Eight, legal documents shall describe development

7

as age restricted.

Nine, the setback of

8

nonresidential buildings from Ten Rod Road will be a

9

minimum of 150 feet.

Ten, phasing determinations

10

shall be per Sheet C-1.1 of the submitted preliminary

11

plans.

12

be in significant compliance with the presented plans.

13

Twelve, the applicant shall provide 11 affordable

Eleven, the impervious surface coverage shall

14

units, which is 10 percent, affordable units, which

15

meet the inclusionary zoning standards, locations of

16

which shall be scattered throughout the site and not

17

situated in one particular area.

18

depicted on the final plan set.

19

units shall be constructed in proportion to the total

20

units, and a schedule for such shall be submitted and

21

agreed upon at final plan submission/approval.

22

Locations shall be
The inclusionary

I'd like to just enhance the comments made and

23

agreed to by the applicant's attorney earlier in the

24

meeting of their intention to not be building all

25

one-bedroom affordable units.
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1

Thirteen, final submission review and approval

2

shall be at the Planning Commission and shall not be

3

administrative.

4

recorded.

5

The final development plan shall be

Fourteen, permanent maintenance agreements for

6

wastewater disposal shall be submitted to the Town for

7

approval prior to final submission and recorded with

8

decisions/approvals once finalized.

9

shall require monthly monitoring and reporting, and

The agreements

10

include that failure of the system will require tight

11

tank operation.

12

Fifteen, applicant and his engineer shall meet

13

with the engineering department and water department

14

staff to discuss Town standards and specifications

15

prior to submission of final application and plans.

16

Sixteen, the internal intersection geometry shall be

17

modified in coordination with the Town engineer and

18

fire marshal to ensure subdivision regulations are

19

met.

20

Seventeen, final siting of effluent disposal

21

shall consider the offsite private wells.

22

the applicant shall work with RIDOT and the planning

23

department regarding potential modifications to PAP

24

approval prior to final plan submissions.

25

Eighteen,

Nineteen, applicant shall continue to work with
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1

the engineering department on cost estimate creation

2

and construction phasing decisions.

3

will be approved by the Planning Commission at a

4

separate meeting.

5

The cost estimate

Twenty, the applicant shall submit alternative

6

driveway locations for the eight townhouses on the

7

roadway to and from the existing golf course to

8

alleviate conflicts of traffic and parking with the

9

final approval application package.

10

Twenty-one, the one-way roadway entrance shall be

11

designated in a way that it is a westbound entrance

12

only, and the curbing will be designed to discourage

13

eastbound traffic from attempting to turn into it.

14

Signage shall also be provided.

15

Twenty-two, legal documents shall include

16

language to permanently restrict future subdivision or

17

development of the golf course, with the exception of

18

the reconstruction of the clubhouse, per the consent

19

agreement.

20

the Town as part of the approval over the development

21

rights over the remaining portion of the golf course.

22

Golf course would be allowed to return to a natural

23

state and could be utilized for passive recreation.

24
25

A negative easement shall be provided to

At this point does any Commission member have any
questions or comments on this draft decision?

Hearing
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1

none, I would ask if anyone would like to make a

2

motion for approval of this preliminary plan decision

3

as written with the change as read in condition

4

Number 4 to include the verbiage which would say,

5

including nine existing bedrooms within the four

6

existing residences at the end of the unit count.

7
8

MR. JACKSON:
approve on the conditions.

9
10

I'll make a motion to

MR. GRUNDY:
Jackson.

Thank you.

Is there a second?

11

MS. NICKLES:

12

MR. GRUNDY:

13

the approval.

14

this vote?

15

That was Bob

I'll second that approval.
Okay.

Pat Nickles seconded

Is there any additional discussion on

MS. ROACH:

Yes.

Jim, it's Pat Roach.

16

You made a comment on condition Number 12 that there

17

should be some more wording added about the

18

proportionality of the building.

19

proportionality of the number of bedrooms in the

20

affordable units.

21

MR. GRUNDY:

I guess it was

I just made a note that

22

we're cognitive of the conversation with the

23

applicant's attorney and their agreement, his

24

statement of intent to not intend to be building all

25

one-bedroom units.

In fact, they might even attempt
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1
2

to be building more two bedrooms than one bedrooms.
I think that the word proportion, in my mind, is

3

adequate, because we, it also says we will agree to it

4

and approve it at final.

5

was, he is on record as agreeing there is no intent to

6

build one bedrooms will be a portion of our

7

consideration on any motion.

8

MR. ROACH:

9

MR. GRUNDY:

10

questions on this?

11

roll call vote on this?

But I think the fact that he

I'm good.
Okay.

Nicole, would you like to call a

12

MS. LAFONTAINE:

13

MR. GRUNDY:

14

MS. LAFONTAINE:

15

MR. JACKSON:

16

MS. LAFONTAINE:

17

MS. MCCUE:

18

MS. LAFONTAINE:

19

MR. ROACH:

20

MS. LAFONTAINE:

21

MS. NICKLES:

22

MS. LAFONTAINE:

23

MR. DION:

24

MR. GRUNDY:

25

Is there any other

Jim Grundy?

I vote yes.
Bob Jackson?

Yes.
Tracey McCue?

Yes.
Pat Roach?

Yes.
Pat Nickles?

Yes.
Paul Dion?

Yes.
Okay.

That is six-zero.

Thank you, all, for the time and listening to me read
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1

these 13 pages.

At this point would anyone like to

2

make a motion to adjourn?

3

MR. DION:

So moved.

4

MR. JACKSON:

5

(CLOSED AT 8:33 P.M.)

Second.

6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
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1
C-E-R-T-I-F-I-C-A-T-E
2
3
4
5

I, ELIZABETH GREELEY, a Notary Public, do hereby
certify that I am expressly approved as a person
qualified and authorized to take depositions pursuant
to Rules of Civil Procedure of the Superior Court;
especially, but without restriction thereto, under
Rule 28 of said Rules; that the transcript contains a
true record of the proceedings.

6
7

Reading and signing of the transcript was not
requested by any parties involved upon completion of
the meeting.

8
9

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this
20th day of April, 2020.

10
11
12
13
14
15
16

______________________________________________________
ELIZABETH GREELEY, NOTARY PUBLIC
CERTIFIED COURT REPORTER
MY COMMISSION EXPIRES: 04/07/2022

17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
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